 


	CHAPTER I 


 


	THE 1903 FLYING MACHINE  


 


	At the commencement of the Twentieth Century, Australia was still recovering from the effects of the worst economic depression in its entire history,� but in the West, the 1890s had been a decade of unprecedented expansion.  The discovery of gold had encouraged a mining boom in Western Australia, which had attracted many "T'othersiders" and foreigners to the goldfields and had transformed the finances of the Colony. 


 


	The most obvious changes had been in the founding of the eastern goldfields' towns - especially Kalgoorlie, but the economic benefits of the mining boom had also had a very obvious effect on Perth and Fremantle, "and the capital, which in 1891 appeared little better than a thriving village, became a rapidly growing  city, alive with every description of business interest and the  focus of ventures of world-wide importance and magnitude."�   "From being a slow, backward and practically unknown community in 1891, Western Australia in 1900 was known the world over as a country of immense wealth, of progressive ideas and of almost  boundless possibilities."� 


 


	The spirit of the age, in Perth in the very early years of the twentieth century, was undoubtedly optimistic and opportunistic, and the announcement in The West Australian, on the morning of 3rd June 1903, of the invention  of  "AN AIR MOTOR"  by a Western Australian was very well received.  


 


	The rather pompously worded article declared: 


 


	"From time immemorial it has been man's ambition to escape from the thraldom of the earth and share with the birds the enjoyment of volant voyages.  However,.... [throughout history] the efforts of scientific research in this direction have ever been baffled.  Great treasure has been spent and many valuable lives lost in the quest and yet for all practical purposes the problem  remains unsolved.  That it is still being pursued like a butterfly's dream is hardly a matter for wonder.  The benefits accruing to a successful issue are almost beyond human  comprehension.  One result is certain;  the nation that first  acquired the secret becomes the undisputed ruler of the world.  Societies with the affirmed object of the invention of a practical flying machine exist in Britain, America, France,  Germany, Austria and other countries.  Edison and Marconi have both expressed the determination to in the near future devote undivided attention to endeavour to excel the partial success attained by Dumont.  Indeed, it might be said that the collective scientific world is to-day chiefly exercised over the perfection of a machine as compared with which the submarine boat will be harmless [and] the racing motor slow ... 





	"And whilst scientists consume their midnight tapers in a vain endeavour to reach the promised stage in the march to the millennium, an unscientific resident of Western Australia dispassionately announces that, at least, he has advanced the long-looked-for solution beyond the point reached by Dumont.  Failing a purely mechanical device, the latter has had recourse to the balloon machine; ... the West Australian ... claims to  have invented a machine that is supported by force alone. 





	"For reasons that at this embryo stage should be obvious, the inventor desires to retain his anonymity.... For the past twenty years he has given great attention to the fascinating question, but it was only a fortnight ago that the idea which he has since materialised into a working model struck him.  Yesterday morning  he walked into the local military barracks and formally offered his invention to the Federal Defence Department.  As a result of that visit, his offer will be repeated this morning in writing and will be forwarded to the Minister for Defence.  Should the authorities in Melbourne decline the offer, it will be tendered to the Imperial authorities in London, and in the event of a second refusal, will be given to the world under patent rights. 


 


	"Yesterday afternoon the inventor, though refusing to describe the construction of his machine... [said] it was... purely a flying machine as distinguished from a navigable balloon.  As a consequence, it was heavier than air, though, owing to its shape, it would, in the event of an accident to the propelling machinery, sink but slowly to the earth.  There was nothing to prevent it from attaining a speed of 100 miles an hour.  It would start from the ground, and once started, would make headway against the hardest wind.  According to the dimensions, a machine would carry anything from five to six persons to many hundreds of tons. It would work in any weather, in any clime. 


 


	"Asked his reasons for submitting the devise to the Federal Defence Department, the inventor said he had adopted that course out of courtesy, believing that the authorities would pass it on to the Imperial Government.  In the cause of humanity, he hoped that it would be accepted by England"� 


 


	Any scepticism readers may have had about the "air motor's" feasibility was dispelled the following day, when a further article in the West Australian revealed that the reporter had actually witnessed a demonstration of a clockwork model in flight, and his enthusiastic description of the flying machine virtually made its inventor an immediate local celebrity. 





 	The article was headed THE NEW AIR MOTOR, and read as follows: 


 


	"A good deal of interest was manifested yesterday in the statement made by a correspondent to these columns that a flying machine bearing promise of ultimate success had been offered to the Federal military authorities.  In accordance with  arrangements made, the inventor during the forenoon submitted to Captain Darval, D.A.A.G., the following written offer:- 





	"I, the undersigned, herewith offer an air motor to the Federal Defence Department, a working model of which may be inspected by any expert you may appoint, but who shall be bound to secrecy with regard to it.  The terms of my offer are as follows:-  That I am placed at the disposal of your Department to build a working air motor which, being approved by your Department, will  conclude my personal services.  These services shall entitle me to remuneration at the rate of 6 pounds weekly while the work of construction lasts, which shall not exceed three months.  At the expiration of this time your Department to pay me 1,000,000 pounds or reject my proposal.- 


(Signed)  Andrew Barr." 





	"This offer will be forwarded to the Federal Commandant (Colonel Sir E.H. Hutton) and the Minister for Defence (Sir John Forrest) without delay. 





	"The correspondent who supplied the particulars published yesterday writes as 


follows:  "Mr. Barr, who has now removed the interdiction held over the publication of his name, resides at  Hine's Hill,� midway between Northam and Southern Cross, and is by birth a Scotchman.  As stated in our issue of yesterday, he is the possessor of no mean mechanical skill, and for the past  20 years has devoted considerable time to the study of the  aerial problem.  As an earnest of good faith Mr. Barr yesterday having first bound him over to inviolable secrecy, afforded a representative of this paper a practical illustration of the merits of his working model.  At the trial Mr. Barr urged nothing.  He simply put the machine through its paces and answered the questions.  What about the contrivance first strikes the layman is its extreme simplicity.  Given even less than the success promised by the unperfected working model - in  other words, if the complete machine will fly nearly so well as the capabilities of the model would seem to indicate - the rest is patent.  For instance, there should be no limit to the speed of a powerful mechanical flyer that end-on presents but a very small minimum of area to the resisting atmosphere.  Nor would a beam wind set up any hopeless leeway, for the lateral area is only greater than the sectional.  Consequently there is in Mr. Barr's glowing path no trace of the almost insuperable barrier to the success of the navigable balloon.  Rain would have much the same effect on the new invention as it has on a slate roof.   The attraction of lightning would be greater or less, according to the material used in construction.  (On this point of  material Mr. Barr is reticent.)  The machine could not fall to earth with any greater speed than a parachutist's distinguishing  device.  To set up any danger of turning turtle in a gale of wind, a horizontal rudder out of all proportion to practical requirements would have to be added.  If the promise of the model be fulfilled, the machine will be capable of starting from the ground and settling almost anywhere on dry land.  As is usual, the motive power of the model is supplied by clockwork;   in the finished article a modern gasoline engine, entailing a weight of only 12 lb. per horse-power will be employed.  The principle of the contrivance is totally dissimilar to any of the  better-known aerial inventions that have gone before."� 


 


	Obviously, the inventor had the greatest confidence in his invention if he expected the Australian Government to part with the vast sum of one million pounds to secure the rights thereto and he was certainly unrealistically optimistic in expecting a Government which consistently ignored the internationally recognised work of fellow Australian, Lawrence Hargrave,� in the  field of aeronautical science, to seriously consider investing in such an uncertain enterprise, even if he had offered his invention without cost (as Hargrave was doing with his research). 


 


	Had Andrew stuck to his original plan of exhausting the possibilities of interesting the Australian and British Governments in his invention, it is almost certain he would have wasted his time, considering the indifference all governments subsequently displayed in developing the Wright brothers'  aeroplane.�  But, as it happened, he was persuaded to change his plans completely and he very quickly sought to patent his invention.  The patent was applied for on 12th June 1903,� and  on 21st July he was granted the Western Australian provisional patent No. 4467 by the local agent of the International Patent and Trade Marks Office. 





	The 1903 patent should be read in conjunction with the more detailed 1904 English patent,�which makes it quite clear that the Barr flying machine wasn't an aeroplane; it was an ornithopter - that is, a heavier than air flying machine which was designed to be propelled through the air by the flapping action of its wings.  





	It is virtually impossible to give a precise description of the invention, because no copies of any specification drawings have survived, nor is there any photograph of the model, which no longer exists.  Consequently, only the wording of the patents is left to provide any idea of the design, but it seems that it was  to be constructed of pairs of wings on each side of the fuselage (which was referred to in the 1903 patent as a “stationary central wing” and as the “body or central frame” in the 1904 patent). The mobile wings were shaped like truncated, hollow inverted cones (i.e, broader near the fuselage and narrower at their outer edge) and were manoeuvrable up from, and back down to a horizontal position. The cabin and the petrol-driven motor were to be suspended from the fuselage, which was shaped like an inverted (upside down) keel.





 	The fuselage and the wings were designed for maximum buoyancy, being triangular in lateral cross section, with the apex uppermost. Rotating shafts in the wings would twist the wings forward on the upstrokes and backward on the downstrokes, in a figure-of-eight motion, while hinged flaps for apertures, which were fully open during the upstrokes of the wings, were designed to close mechanically during the downstrokes, so that the maximum forward thrust and uplift could be generated during the downstrokes and air resistance minimised during the upstrokes.  “The motion of these wings are arranged to be as nearly as possible identical with that of a natural birds wing.”� The wings were to be constructed of aluminium;  a remarkable specification, considering that the first metal aircraft didn’t fly until 1918.� 


 


	Given the history of the aeroplane, it is very easy for us to scoff at the misconceived concept of the ornithopter and to wonder how on earth anyone would have seriously supposed that a full-scale machine could ever have propelled itself off the ground,� but in the days before the first aeroplane flight, the idea of an ornithopter didn't seem at all far-fetched, and many people in Perth took Andrew Barr's invention just as seriously as the inventor. 





It is all too easy, with the benefit of hindsight, to shrug off Andrew’s ornithopter as the misguided mission of an impractical crank, but such an attitude completely ignores the truly astonishing nature of his achievement. He had succeeded in solving a major engineering problem which decades later took a team of two engineers (one of whom is a professor of aerospace studies) twenty years to resolve - and then only after a detailed computer analysis of  “the most difficult airplane design problem” the professor had ever encountered. �





	In 1903, Andrew’s flying machine was the talk of the town in Perth and one of Western Australia's most prominent citizens, who had been a very successful consulting engineer and had become a leading Perth financier and a prominent politician - Thomas F.O. Brimage -  was sufficiently impressed by the ornithopter to persuade Andrew to patent the design as soon as possible and to form a partnership with him. 


 


	Brimage (1866-1915) had played a leading role in the development of the Eastern Goldfields as a consulting engineer.�  As the representative of a wealthy London syndicate, he had purchased many valuable gold mine leases.  He became the General Manager of Hannan's Great Northern Mine and had held several executive  positions in the goldfields.  In 1900 he became a stockbroker in Perth and a Member of the Legislative Council (the Upper House  of the W.A. Parliament).  By 1903 he was one of Western Australia's most influential men, and he had no difficulty in persuading Andrew to hand over the working model of the ornithopter to him, in return for a contract� whereby Andrew was to receive thirty 10 pound shares in the Barr Flying Machine Syndicate and a further 300 pounds "to construct a Flying Machine in accordance with the model now in [Brimage's] possession."  In return, Brimage was to receive ten of the seventy shares, out of which he was to pay "all necessary flotation expenses."  Andrew agreed "to sign all contracts, conveyances, agreements and assignments which [Brimage] or the  Syndicate may consider necessary for the purpose of vesting in  the Syndicate the whole benefits of [Andrew's] invention." 





	The contract with Brimage was signed on the same day as Andrew applied for the patent:  12th June - a week after the invention was first reported.  Clearly, Brimage, a hard-headed and very successful businessman, was very impressed with the ornithopter and was determined to exploit the invention. 


 


	It has become virtually impossible to discover what part Brimage played in subsequent business negotiations.  According to the then famous journalist/poet "Dryblower" Murphy, Brimage went to London with Andrew and then deserted him. However, the only "evidence" I have for this assertion is a poem by Dryblower, and since Murphy was many years later to claim that it was no less a  person than the eminent British scientist, Lord Kelvin (with his alleged ridicule of the concept of a heavier-than-air machine) who was chiefly responsible for the failure of Andrew's mission to London, these accounts should be regarded with caution. 





	What actually happened in London apropos of Andrew's commercial negotiations cannot be ascertained, except to state the obvious:  they were a complete failure.  The reason for the failure is also obvious:  there was no future in ornithopters, and in any case, the commercial world manifested almost complete indifference from 1904 to 1908 in any sort of flying machine. 





	Nevertheless, over the years the story of Andrew's misfortune in London gradually became embellished, chiefly in Sunday Times' accounts, until the journalistic account came to be accepted within the Barr family as a factual tradition. 


 


	It would seem that the journalist chiefly responsible was "Dryblower" Murphy, who worked for the Kalgoorlie Sun and, from 1901-1938,� for the Sunday Times.  According to the author of the history of Bruce Rock, J.K. Ewers, "Dryblower" was one man whom Andrew Barr always called upon when he went to Perth.� 


	It is quite possible that Andrew was well acquainted with Murphy, who was a particularly gregarious soul, constantly on the look-out for stories to write,  often in verse, for he was  W.A.'s best known poet for over half a century. 


 


	Ewers goes on to state that " `Dryblower' ... waved his friend goodbye as the ship took him and his high hopes out of Fremantle.  When he came back, minus the fortune he expected to make, "Dryblower" published a poem in the Sunday Times called  "Andrew Barr of Doodlekine".  It was reprinted in "Jarrahwood Jingles" (1908)".� 


 


	The title of the book was actually Jarrahland Jingles, and the three verses of the poem left no doubt of "Dryblower's" opinion of Thomas F.O. Brimage. 








	ANDREW BARR OF DOODLEKINE  


	AIRSHIP INVENTOR


 


 


				"We said ta-ta," as someone wrote, 


				"To Andrew Barr, of Doodlekine," 


				We also watched him board the boat 


				That bore him o'er the rolling brine. 


				He comforted each pallid wreck, 


				Who moaned and groaned in mal-de-mer; 


				He showed in chalk along the deck 


				How he'd propel them through the air; 


				He laughed to scorn the albatross 


				Which whirled and swooped for scupper scraps; 


				Of Boreas bold he'd be the boss, 


				And scowled when someone said "Perhaps." 


				But now, alas - a punctured crank 


				Is back across the tropic line, 


				And all the world is dark and dank 


				To Andrew Barr, of Doodlekine. 


 


				We sent him 'Ome across the sea, 


				And told this woolly-whiskered wight 


				Where he could raise the L.S.D. 


				(Or rather, where perhaps he might). 


				We gave him letters short and long 


				To Cohen-Bull of London Rich; 


				We also sent a spruiker strong 


				To show him which at 'Ome was which. 


				Big Brimage went to pilot him 


				Among the London fog and smoke, 


				And Brim. was pledged to sling a jim 


				Whenever Barr went stoney-broke. 


				Brim. now has got a bat-winged car, 


				Which Cohen and his crowd decline, 


				And W.A. has Andrew Barr, 


				Poor busted Barr, of Doodlekine. 


 


				He sought the crystal air to swim 


				Amid a maze of whirling wings, 


				And dreamed of times when he and Brim 


				Would flip a dook with 'aughty Kings. 


				The only Kings who saw his face, 


				Alas, were in the steerage pack, 


				And Brim's in London on the "ace", 


				Of Andrew Barr a trifle "jack" 


				And Doodlekine which hoped to rise 


				Into a throbbing, thriving town, 


				Now imprecates poor Andrew's eyes 


				While cursing Brimage up and down. 


				And there the scrub-encumbered land, 


				The poddy calf, the squealing swine, 


				Are waiting for the 'ornery 'and 


				Of Andrew Barr of Doodlekine, 


				Poor busted Barr of Doodlekine.�


 


	In Brimage's defence, however, it must be admitted that, as far as the Barr family tradition is concerned, Andrew went to London only once, and there is compelling documentary evidence to show that he went in the company of Hearman,� not Brimage.  Three  things need to be kept in mind before giving too much credence to this poem.  First, Murphy was well-known for "satirising haughty Government officials, greedy company directors, touchy councillors and complaining opera stars".�  Second, "'Dryblower' was no respecter of persons - not even sparing his brother in his search for crisp copy".�  Third, Murphy was writing "in days when the law of libel was forgotten and there was no such thing as defamation of character".�


 


	Thomas F.O. Brimage, MLC and leading financier, would have been fair game - whereas "poor busted Barr of Doodlekine" was just the sort of man who was "always uppermost in ["Dryblower"'s] mind.... the pioneer who had battled against adversity."� 


 


	Murphy was later to claim that the illustrious Lord Kelvin was the principal villain and the main cause of the failure of Andrew's mission to London, but in 1915, when the Sunday Times first printed an article about Andrew's trip to London, Kelvin didn't rate any mention whatsoever, although certain unnamed scientists were portrayed unfavourably: 


 


	"...When Andrew Barr went to England a decade ago with his embryonic flier he met an enthusiastic and exceedingly wealthy Englishman, who after a few interviews with A.B. became convinced the problem was solved.  Then after promising A.B. that the whole thing would be fixed up, the young enthusiast would meet certain eminent know-alls in his club, who would immediately and clearly show him the fallacy of believing that a heavier than air machine could ever fly.  Then he would meet Andrew Barr at the latter's hotel and again become convinced as to the practicability of the apparatus only to be swung around  the other way a few hours later at the club by one of the aforesaid scientists...."�





	A few months later, Murphy added further details to the story, naming Moore-Brabazon as the first Englishman to fly and introducing Lord Kelvin to the saga, as well as denigrating the brilliant achievements of the Wright brothers:





	"It must always be remembered that Andrew Barr stood almost alone at one time in the theory that heavier-than-air flying machines were possible, having been backed up by the now late Tom Brimage to take the model to England for experiment.  That was long before even Wilbur Wright and his brother tried planing down-hill with a machine minus a propeller, but none in Bull-land would listen long enough to give Andrew Barr a chance.  One Moore Brabazon (afterwards the first Englishman to fly in a heavier-than-air machine) was approached by A.B. for assistance in making a practicable working machine, and was a score of times on the point of putting up the money when some of his scientific friends (Lord Kelvin one of them) intervened between him and what they considered to be sheer lunacy and a waste of money, and Barr was left lamenting with a model.  Day after day A.B. would talk, and demonstrate his model's ability, and day after day Moore Brabazon would promise to put up the necessary (he was a very wealthy man), but at the club each night such as Lord Kelvin and a few other weight-carrying notables would convince M.B. he was wasting his time with a crank."�


 


	It would seem that Murphy was capable of taking as broad a licence with his journalism as he was inclined to take with his poetry.  It is questionable whether Barons Brabazon of Tara and Kelvin of Largs had ever heard of "Andrew Barr of Doodlekine", though by 1924, when the next mention of Andrew's trip to London was made in the Sunday Times,  Kelvin had attained the status of arch-villain in the legend.


 


	The 1924 Sunday Times account commenced abruptly: 


 


	"Recently published a long appreciation of the dead and gone scientist Lord Kelvin.  But very few people know that the same Lord Kelvin of 20-odd years ago laughed to scorn and bankruptcy so called inventors who came to him with models of heavier-than- air flying machines.  The well-known Andrew Barr, our own Doodlakine resident, was well on the way to convince a semi- millionaire of London, one Brabazon that flying was possible and came near succeeding several times until Lord Kelvin was consulted.  Then the damper came, "Balloons will fly of course," said Lord K, "but how are you to keep up in the air machines with no gas bag or other inflation.  You cannot do it and no man ever will."  Strange to say, the same Brabazon was the first Englishman to fly, as, though he turned down Andrew Barr's  machine, he eventually listened to others.  Long after he wrote out to Andrew Barr, saying how sorry he was not to have listened to him (A.B.).  The latter answered his letter and told Brabazon firmly that though he was the first Englishman to fly, had he listened to him (Barr) he would have been the absolute first man in the world to do so!"� 


 


	Once it is realised that Andrew went to London in 1904, AFTER the Wright brothers' historic first flight in December 1903, the whole thrust of the points made about the possibility of Andrew's machine being the first to fly can be seen as so much "hot air." 





	To be fair to Murphy, let it be said that he was doing his best to boost the reputation of a battling mate, but let it also be said the he wasn't above taking liberties with the plot of a good story for the sake of "crisp copy" - and he wasn't the sort of bloke to let the W.A. Centenary celebrations pass without a "crisp copy" mention of his old mate, Andrew Barr.





	In the Sunday Times of 21st April 1929, "Dryblower" revived - and embellished - the legend of the "Airship Inventor" from Doodlekine, W.A.:





	"Semi-blind, but living cheerfully upon his farm 12 miles from Doodlakine, Andrew Barr.  He is famous as having been the first man in W.A. to think out the present form of aeroplane, and backed his opinion of his invention to the extent of going to London with a big model of his projected machine.  In the syndicate was ex-Goldfielder Tom Brimage, who put about 500 pounds into the project but pulled out when more capital was asked for.  The machine, very like unto the present form of aeroplane, was shown both still and flying in a big underground room in the Terrace, the power being obtained from a length of twisted thick rubber acting on the principle of a clock spring.  The model certainly did fly or volplane 20 or 30 feet, but only intermittently, the pitch of the propeller seemingly not being regulated to air grip and slip.  Andrew Barr pinned a lot of faith and finances to the machine, and after a long stay in London convinced a Mr. Brabazon Williams,[sic] a very rich Englishman, that the principle was good and it would take a few thousand pounds to prove its reliability in practice.  Time after time Andrew Barr would convince Brabazon Williams that the invention was a good one, and time after time an eminent scientist would dissuade B.W. from putting money into it, demonstrating that nothing heavier than air could possibly float in the atmosphere."�





	It's quite probable that Brimage did pull out of the syndicate when more capital was required, but the rest of the story is mostly fabricated.  Andrew's ornithopter was quite distinct from "the present form of aeroplane" and his flying model certainly didn't possess a propeller.





	Andrew himself seems to have further confused the story when, a few months later, he gave a speech during Bruce Rock's formal celebration of the State's Centenary (which coincided with the commemoration of the half-century of the district's first pastoral lease).  He was reported in the local newspaper as saying that he had taken the model of the flying machine "to the Old Country, but before he was able to get his patent on the market� Wilbur and Orvill Wright stepped in before him with patents."� 


	The reference to patents was irrelevant, considering the completely different design of the Barr and Wright machines, but it would have been quite natural for his listeners to infer that Andrew had gone to London before the Wright brothers' first flight at Kitty Hawk in December 1903. 


 


	Andrew's remarks may well have generated a good deal of local interest.  At any rate, the local newspaper republished Dryblower's 1908 poem under the headline "ANDREW BARR'S  AEROPLANE" and with this commentary: 


 


	"The following poem which is reprinted from Dryblower Murphy's  "Jarrah Wood Jingles", published in 1908, should be read with interest by all in the district.  The poem is a tribute by  W.A.'s greatest poet to Mr. Andrew Barr's inventive genius in  constructing the first heavier than air flying machine.  It goes on to racily describe how Barr, with a "spruiker" took a model of his invention to England, but owing to the difficulties  placed in his way to raise the necessary money in the  limited time allowed� the Wright brothers of America, succeeded in beating him to the market� and thus won the prize and fame that went with the patenting� of their product."� 


 


	This report was quite misleading, in that it implied that there was a time limit involved and a prize to be won.  Also, it presumed that the commercial market was anxiously waiting for a flying machine to be patented - whereas the market for such a product simply didn't exist, as the Wright brothers discovered in the years 1904-1908.  Furthermore, this report implied that Andrew went to England before the Wright brothers' first flight in 1903.  





	No mention was made of Lord Kelvin, but, juxtaposed with the 1908 poem, this commentary must have led its readers to suppose that Brimage was the main cause of the failure to finance Andrew's plane, and to complete the legend, in a Sunday Times article written in 1930, Murphy had Brimage destroying the model of the aeroplane ("very similar" to Bleriot's 1909 machine) "just before his death" (in 1915).  





	Murphy's 1930 article reads: 


 


	"Apropos of aviators, aeroplanes, and airships, it is of interest to recall that one of the greatest scientists the world has ever known, the late Lord Kelvin, was a quarter of a century ago and a little over, absolutely opposed to the idea that anything heavier than air such as the modern aeroplane, would keep afloat.  Lord Kelvin was (and is) acknowledged as possessing one of the greatest intellects of the British Empire, other countries having also given testimony to his scientific genius, but whenever the problem of flying arose he emphatically disbelieved in it.  When the once-famous Andrew Barr, of  Doodlakine went to England a little over a quarter of a century ago to try and induce capital to take up his flying machine invention (very similar to that with which Bleriot flew the English Channel), he had letters to a prominent English sportsman, Smith-Brabazon,� who from the first became deeply interested in the conquest of the air.  To him Barr unfolded his plans, and so well did he put them forward that the said opulent  young bohemian, who was afterwards the first English man to fly, agreed to financially back Barr and his project.  In the syndicate was also the late Tom Brimage, M.L.C. for Kalgoorlie and thereabouts, but as soon as Smith-Brabazon told Lord Kelvin of his plans and showed him the models, that eminent scientist smiled as loudly as a highly-trained scientist is allowed to do, and pooh-poohed the whole idea.  When Smith-Brabazon had  seemingly convinced Kelvin, the latter would hold up a light cork, and after letting it drop would ask S-B what he imagined was going to make it float.  Balloons and other gas-filled creations, he firmly believed in.  In the end Barr returned a broken and dispirited man to W.A., and went back to his farm at Doodlakine where he now is and is likely to be.  Tom Brimage, just before his death, one day severely kicked to pieces the  remains of the model in his St. George's Terrace office, telling the caretaker to "take it away and burn it".  Such is the fate of outstanding genius."�


 


	It was this Sunday Times article which became the accepted version of Andrew's mission to London.  It formed the basis of later accounts in the Western Mail� and the Sunday Times� and was given credence by Ewers.�  The "Murphy version" also came to be accepted as gospel by many of Andrew's descendants, but it is best regarded as an apocryphal story which, while it makes interesting reading, simply will not stand up to close examination as an historical record. Nevertheless, the "Murphy version" was accepted by later journalists writing on the subject but apart from "Dryblower"'s  references, I haven't been able to trace any further mention of Brimage's association with Andrew. 





	As for the fate of  the model of the ornithopter, it needs to be clearly stated that it wasn’t destroyed by any human agency. It may be safely assumed that Andrew took it with him to London and that he brought it back with him to Western Australia and kept it at his property at Mindebooka. His grandson, Jack Barr, who stayed at Andrew’s farm for a total of three years in the 1920s and for another two years at the nearby farm of Andrew’s son, Dave, in the early 1930s, recalled seeing a demonstration flight of the ornithopter at “Tarnsdale” - Andrew’s homestead at Mindebooka, which was totally destroyed by a  “willy willy” (tornado) in 1933.�





	In August 1903, Andrew wrote to Sir Hiram Maxim (the inventor of the Maxim machine gun) an expatriate American living in London, who, in 1894, had demonstrated that a heavier-than-air machine could be power-lifted off the ground.�  He received a blunt reply which read: 


 


"Dear Sir, 


"Yours of the 2nd ult is received. 


"I herewith return the newspaper cutting. 


"I have received many hundreds of letters almost identical with your own.  I have no interest in anything relating to aerial navigation except the machine has been actually made and is successful."� 





	At least Sir Hiram's response was not quite as indifferent to aeronautics as the American, British and European business world's attitude, which showed an astonishing reluctance to fund aeronautical developments before Bleriot's flight across the English Channel in 1909.  Prior to Bleriot's achievement, no  government showed any particular interest in aeronautics, and it isn't surprising that Andrew had no better luck in arousing Australian political backing for his invention than the Wright brothers had in trying to interest the American government.�   Worldwide, the disparity between popular interest in and  business/political indifference to the subject could scarcely have been greater. 





	Apparently, Brimage must have become aware of the situation, for he seems to have lost all practical interest in the project when Andrew was unable to obtain backing in either London or Melbourne (at that time, the headquarters of the Federal Government).  It is not known when Brimage and Andrew parted  company, though as far as I have been able to determine, it must have been some time before Andrew went to London in 1904. 





	Brimage and Barr were obviously still in partnership in July 1903, when the patent was officially accepted, for in a letter to the State Governor, Sir Frederick Bedford  (dated 23rd July) Andrew wrote "c/o Messrs T.F. Brimage & Coy. Perth" and stated that "a rough Model of my invention is at present at the office of the Hon. T.F. Brimage and I will be pleased to hand this to you if you think it necessary." 	In this letter Andrew made no mention of his original request for 1,000,000 pounds.   Instead, he offered to "hand my invention over free, leaving the remuneration until after the construction of a machine after my pattern [ i.e., according to the working model] which has proved a success."  


	He went on:  "I may add that the Model and System on which my machine will be built has been inspected by several Engineers and Draftsmen of this City who are very sanguine of the results of my efforts."� 


 


	Perhaps the Governor's nautical background (he was an Admiral in the Royal Navy) prejudiced his opinion of flying machines, but at any rate, Andrew's condition that the matter be given "prompt consideration" doesn't seem to have been acted upon. 





	On the 15th August 1903, Andrew wrote to Sir John Forrest shortly before Sir John's departure from the Defence Department, requesting a reply by 30th October.�  Sir John was evidently sufficiently impressed to release some details to a Melbourne newspaper (The Leader) and responded to Andrew's letter by asking him to "submit plans or drawings of a model of the machine"� 





	The 1903 article in The Leader merits substantial quotation, because: (1) it quotes at length from Andrew’s letter to Sir John and thereby indicates Andrew’s unique approach to the problem of ornithopter aeronautics; and (2) it indicates that Andrew would have sent the drawings of the ornithopter to the Defence Department in Melbourne - and, therefore, the drawings may still exist.





	The article is headed MILITARY FLYING MACHINE - A Western Australian Invention, and the text commences: “Sir John Forrest, on leaving the Defence Department, handed over to his successor an interesting communication from Mr A. Barr, of Doodlakine, Western Australia, who has just patented a flying machine which it is claimed will be useful for military purposes. Mr Barr points out in his letter that his forerunners have confined their inventions to two classes of machines, viz., Aeroplanes and Balloons, neither of which has, down to the present, been entirely successful. The inventor then proceeds:


	The first conclusion to which my study brought me was that the successful flying machine must be heavier than air. The conclusion naturally led me to study the flight of birds, both in nature and in instantaneous photographs. I venture humbly to assure you that I have discovered the principle which has escaped all those who have previously attempted to construct a flying machine.


	This principle is the true action of a bird’s wings. It is generally supposed that birds fly by flapping their wings downwards, but a close study of a bird’s flight will show that view is incorrect. It is now known for the first time that  that all birds fly alike. At the moment of taking flight, the wings open to their fullest extent, and then move forward close to the body. Lacking the knowledge of this simple movement costs inventors lots of time, torture and many valuable lives.


	Acting on the true principle of a bird’s flight, I have constructed a model of a flying machine, which I desire to have the honour of showing to you, and I will forward drawings, if you desire....


	“Mr Barr stipulated for a reply by October 30th, otherwise he would consider himself at liberty to enter into negotiation with foreign governments. Sir John Forrest accordingly asked for the drawings. When they arrive Mr Chapman will submit them to the experts in Melbourne for a report.”�





	As far as I am aware, there is no record of Andrew's reply, unless it exists in the National Archives.   It would seem reasonable to suppose that the Australian experts couldn't have thought any more of the drawings than the American Defence Department were to think of the Wright brothers' invention.� 


 


	Having got nowhere with governmental authorities, and having parted company with Brimage,  Andrew sought another financial partner.  On 23rd April 1904, he signed a                                           contract with Walter Edgar Hearman,� whereby in exchange for 300 pounds and a half interest in all profits, they were to "forthwith proceed to  London for the purpose of floating a Company or Syndicate to work and experiment with the... invention"  -  i.e., "Barr's Aeronautic Machine." 





	Given the lack of enthusiasm then generally evident in financial circles in Britain, Europe and America for aeronautics, Andrew's trip to London in 1904 was almost predestined to fail - and fail it did - but only from a business point of view.  





Personally, Andrew’s stay in London was a very happy one, for he met Anna Smith-Thompson, a nursing matron, who soon became his second wife. Like Andrew, Anna was  Scottish, but their wedding took place in London, at St George’s Church, Bloomsbury, on the 28th August 1904 (when the groom was aged 49 and the bride 41) and the happy couple had their honeymoon aboard ship, bound for Fremantle and a farming life in the (then) extremity of the Western Australian wheatbelt.





......................................................................





ANDREW BARR’S PLACE IN THE HISTORY OF AVIATION





	Surprisingly, Andrew’s return to farming is not the end of the saga .





	It would be natural enough to suppose that ornithopters were nothing more than an historical curiosity,  which died a natural death with the development of aeroplanes, but as a matter of fact ornithopter research was taken seriously throughout the first decade of the twentieth century and continued spasmodically until very recently, when interest in ornithopters has witnessed a remarkable resurgence and Andrew’s ornithopter is now acknowledged as being “a hundred years ahead of its time.”�





	Of course, Andrew was by no means the first to experiment with ornithopters, nor was he the originator of aeronautical research into bird flight. “In the nineteenth century Sir George Cayley conducted intensive researches on bird flight [and] built the world’s first full-size glider.... And in France, Hureau de Villeneuve fashioned nearly three hundred artificial birds in varying shapes and sizes in order to study the secrets of flight, while Alphonse Penaud created a model for an aerial device that flapped its wings to fly. (One of Penaud’s toys was to spark the curiosity of the Wrights, setting them on the path to their lofty achievement.)”� 


�Given Andrew's intense interest in the subject and his extensive research, it would be quite reasonable to suppose that he was aware of work of Lawrence Hargrave, Australia's pioneer aeronautical scientist,� but it cannot be stated categorically that the two men ever corresponded.


 �	On 31st December 1884, using his fifty-first model, which weighed one ounce and was driven by two flappers,  Hargrave achieved his first free flight.�  Another of Hargrave's flying models “had a large fixed wing behind the moving wings, which operated in a similar fashion to a bird wing and pulled the model through the air. Hargreave later used compressed air for similar models and developed propellers to replace the flappers."� 





Even after the Wright brothers’ successful  aeroplane flights, however, “many others - including Louis Bleriot - contributed to the theory of flapping flight and tried to realise in practice this seemingly simple way to leave the ground. But failure was their common reward. During the years 1907-1909, expectations in France centred on an ornithopter (the Colomb) that its backers insisted would take to the air; but it got little farther than the doors of its hanger.”�





	“Other ornithopter fanatics, European and American, continued to build wing-flapping machines in their back yards or barns. ... One of the more serious of these efforts was the all-metal 35-hp Dubois Riant monoplane, which appeared in France in 1911.”� 





	Moreover, interest in ornithopters was maintained in later decades,  and recent experiments have continued in North America and England, with particular attention being paid to the anatomy of  a bird’s wing and the aerodynamics of bird flight.� 





	Yet in spite of a full century’s ongoing research and development of ornithopters since 1903, it is only now, in the twenty-first century, that Andrew Barr’s unique figure-of-eight wing-movement has been  taken up in ornithopter development, with multi-million dollar research into robotic insect flight “where traditional aviation rules simply don't apply...  [Robotic insects] fly by flapping their wings in a 'figure of 8' exactly as put forward by Barr in 1903.”� 





	“Dryblower” Murphy, Western Australia’s best known poet in his lifetime, surely penned a remarkable prophesy  for Andrew when he gave his old mate this verse:





	Little for turnips did Andrew care


	With his soul in the clouds and his head in the air.


	Wonderful are the ways of fate,


	Long does she keep her chosen hid.


	Silent for years are the truly great,


	Till suddenly opens the casket lid:


	    Forgotten men from another age


		Are given, at last, their rightful wage;


			Brought to light is many a gem


			And winged, wonderful visions reward them.





Wonderful Visions and Mysteries


Dedicated to Andrew Barr by his friend, “Dryblower” Murphy.


(unpublished; date unknown)

















� Australian Encyclopaedia, 4th ed., vol. 3, p.266.  {163} 





� Battye, p.418.  {143} 





� Battye, pp.433-34.  {143} 





� The West Australian, 3 June 1903, p.5 column i.   {127} 





� Andrew's farm was actually at Mindebooka, to the  south of Baandee and south-west of Hine's Hill. It was south-east of Doodlakine, the largest town in the district. Perhaps Andrew preferred to use the more stylish address of  Hine's Hill.





� The West Australian, 4 June 1903, p.6, column e.    {128} 





� See Hargrave, passim.     {155}





� American interest in aeroplanes remained  unofficial, even after the Wright brothers 1903 


flight of over 24 miles.  It wasn't until 1908 that a later Wright plane aroused any interest in


Europe.  see Blake, p.9. {145} and  Flight, p.28.  {152 }





�   See Appendix A.





�  See Appendix B. 





�  “The thin wings of birds ... get lift and thrust by twisting their wing[s] on the downstroke 


[which] propels them forward as well as lifting. The upstroke can actually produce a 


rearward thrust, and they partially collapse their wings to minimise this.”{111a} See note 14.





� The Junkers CL1 or J10 monoplane. See Blake, p.54 {145 }. However, an all-metal 


ornithopter was built in France in 1911. See p. 11, above.





�  Even in 1991, “the first successful flight of a motorised wing flapping aircraft” {111a} required the ornithopter to be launched by hand. Andrew’s model ornithopter was powered by clockwork.





�  Professor James DeLaurier, of the University of Toronto’s Institute for Aerospace Studies, worked on the ornithopter with Jeremy Harris, an engineer at the Battelle Memorial Institute in Columbus, Ohio, for almost 20 years. This was the most difficult airplane design problem I’ve ever encountered. We needed to do a detailed computer analysis to find just the right amount of twisting to efficiently achieve simultaneous thrusting and lifting.  Canadian Science, Vol 10, No12, 1991. {111a}


“The biggest  problem was the design of the wings, which had to both propel the plane and produce lift, as a bird’s wings do.” {111a}  


Andrew Barr had also worked on precisely the same problem for 20 years - alone and unaided - without the use of a computer, and his solution to the problem was a figure-of-eight configuration for the revolution of the wings, combined with  opening and closing vanes to maximise the lift and forward thrust of the downstroke and to minimise the rearward thrust of the upstroke. (see text, p. 9)


I forwarded the relevant pages of  the typescript of  “A Clouded Vision” to Professor DeLaurier in 1992 and in acknowledgement, the Professor replied “... Andrew Barr ... sounds like a remarkable inventor and certainly deserves recognition for his very intriguing flapping-wing design.” {55a}
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�  The Sunday Times, 21 April 1929, p.14 - "Peeps at People", column b.  {121b}


The “eminent scientist” was certainly not the only scientist to scorn the concept of a heavier-than-air flying machine. For five years, from 1903, the highly regarded journal, Scientific American, refused to accept the claims of the Wright brothers, regardless of  “scores of public demonstrations, affidavits from local dignitaries, and photographs.” {156a}  “Apparently, what the Wrights had done was considered scientifically impossible, and so all their evidence was ridiculed.” {118a}	


[NOTE	{118a} = Milton, Richard, Forbidden Science: suppressed research that could change our lives. Fourth Estate, 1994. Reviewed in New Scientist, 23 April 1994, p.41.]
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�  Perhaps Murphy was confusing Andrew's second wife's surname (Smith-Thompson) with Moore-Brabazon? 
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�  Verbal information from Jack Barr to the author, 1988 (re the demonstration flight). Jack’s wife, Edith (“Ena”) Barr, has recorded {83a} that “John, my husband, had spent one year with [his grandparents at “Tarnsdale”] when he was eight years old [i.e., 1920-21] then two years on the farm in his teens, & two years [on Dave’s farm] in the thirties, so he knew Andrew very well.” See also Chapter 4, note 20.





�  Flight, p.13.     {152}





�  Maxim's letter to Andrew, 7 Oct. 1903.  {63}  


The letter was addressed to “Andrew Barr, Doodlekine, West Australia.”   
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�  Andrew's letter to Sir Frederick Bedford, 23 July 1903.   {5}





�  The Leader, 3 Oct. 1903, p.23, columns d/e.     {116}
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� The Dictionary of Western Australians, V4, part 1 {167} names Walter Edgar Hearman as the youngest son of William George Hearman.





� Professor John Bird, Monash University. Centennial of Flight website refers to:  “... the development of insect sized unmanned aerial vehicles that, due to their size and where traditional aviation rules simply don't apply, instead fly by flapping their wings in a 'figure of 8' exactly as put forward by Barr in 1903.” {173b} See also notes 11 & 14, above.





� Villard  {160a} p.205. In page 17 {160a} Villard quotes Wilbur Wright’s letter, dated May 30, 1899,  to the Smithsonian Institute (Washington) in which he acknowledges his great interest in Cayley’s and Penaud’s machines.





�  "Lawrence Hargrave" {155} gives a brief outline of Hargrave's work. Shaw and Ruhen {159a} have written a much more detailed account of  Hargrave's contribution to aeronautics. The Vice-President of the Model Aeronautical  Association of Australia, Theo Merrifield, has commended this book.  Merrifield {176}  
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�  Villard  {160a} p.206.





�  Aeromodeller Annual 1964-65 {161a} pp. 44 - 57.  pp. 47 - 48 show details of bird wing anatomy.





�  Professor John Bird. Centennial of Flight website. {173b}





The {bracketed numbers} refer to the numbers listed in the Bibliography, pp. 57-63

















